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Mr. Maurice Leon, 89 years old, lives with his beloved wife
Yvette in a small apartment in the suburbs of Athens.
Entering the apartment one can fell the warmth of its
inhabitants. Everywhere around the house one can see
photographs, reminders of the life they had in Thessaloniki
and later on in Athens, where they have lived for the last
50 years. One can also see the photographs of his children
and grandchildren, who he adores. Having lived all his
childhood and youth years in Thessaloniki, Mr. Leon is full
of memories of how this town used to be before World War
II. He was eager to share these memories along with his
worries about the future of Judaism.
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My family history

My name is Maurice Leon. I was born in Thessaloniki on 27th September 1918.

Similarly to all Jews of Salonica 1 my ancestors' origins were from Spain. I believe that they came
to Salonica in 1492. On my father's side, our ancestors came from Leon district [a province of
northwestern Spain] and this is the reason our last name is Leon. When I was a child my father
Isaac told me that our ancestors first went to Smyrna [today Izmir, Turkey] and then came to
Salonica.

My father's father was called Juda and his mother Rahel. Grandfather Juda was involved in
commerce. I remember him going back and forth to the city of Yiannitsa. [Giannitsa (or Yiannitsa):
a town in Greece's Pella Prefecture, the largest city in the 'Macedonian Plains' region, chiefly an
agricultural center.] My father told us the following story about our grandfather Juda: Once
Grandfather Juda was coming from Yiannitsa back to Salonica with his horse. But he was late and
found the gate of the fortress of Salonica closed. So he stayed out for the night. He was caught by
thieves that wanted the sachet with his money. But he managed to hide it so well that the thieves
couldn't find it. So he was able to save the earnings of that day. Later on, my grandfather Juda
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started a soap factory 2 in Salonica. His children continued this business after him. The factory was
finally closed a few years after World War II. I don't know when Grandfather Juda died.

My mother Riketa's origins were also from Spain. My mother's mother was called Benuta.
Grandmother Benuta was the sister of my father's first wife, Jamila. My mother's father was called
Ovadia Sciaky. I don't know anything else about Grandmother Benuta and Grandfather Ovadia.

My father's name was Isaac Leon. He was born around 1870 and died in 1949. My father's brothers
were Jomtov and Samuel and his sisters were Sara, Lea and Benvenida.

My father was very authoritarian. When we sat at the table nobody was allowed to talk. And if
somebody was talking a lot, my father would tell him or her to leave the table and go sit in the
kitchen.

My father Isaac was married twice. His first wife's name was Jamila Sason. One interesting detail of
that period of time was that my father's second wife Riketa, my mother, was the niece of his first
wife Jamila. So my mother was first cousins with my father's and his first wife Jamila's children. His
second wife was my mother Riketa, nee Sciaky. My mother was born around 1900 and died in
1970.

My mother Riketa was like all mothers. She loved her children very much. She was kind and never
got angry. She had a very kind character. My mother didn't wear traditional clothes. She was
dressed according to the fashion of the time. But she would always wear a hat on formal occasions.

I also remember my mother's sister Flor Pinchas, nee Sciaky, and her daughter, our cousin, Rahel
Pinchas. My aunt Flor went to live in Israel before World War II. She was the one that saved all our
family photographs.

Growing up

We were a very big family. We were seven siblings. The first four were my father's first wife
Jamila's children. The last three were my father's second wife Riketa's children. Although there was
a significant age difference between Riketa's and Jamila's children, all siblings had a very close
relationship.

The eldest was my sister Rahel. She was around 15 to 20 years older than me. She was married to
our cousin Alberto Leon, son of my father's brother Samuel Leon. Thus my sister Rahel was called
Leon before and after she married. My mother told me that when my sister Rahel got married my
youngest sister Berta was about to be born. And something very characteristic was that later on
my mother Riketa and my sister Rahel were breastfeeding together! I don't remember my eldest
sister Rahel at home, before her marriage. Neither do I remember her wedding. But I remember
she was living very close by and we were always together.

I remember also Rahel's children, my cousins Samuel-Sam Leon and Niko Leon, who was born
unhealthy. Sam Leon was born around 1924 and lives in Thessaloniki. Niko Leon died in Switzerland
a while after World War II.

After Rahel, in 1905 I suppose, my brother Juda was born. Juda was married to Victoria, nee Molho,
and had two children, Niko and Nina. After Juda came Jacque Leon. He was born around 1910. And
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the last of my father's first wife Jamila's children was Sara. Sara was born in 1912. I remember her
wedding in 1936 very well. Sara was married to Sam Amarilio. They chose to have their wedding at
Matanot Laevionim 3. It was a welfare institution and had a synagogue, too. Their marriage was
very aristocratic.

After Sara, Zan was born in 1916. She was the first of my father's second wife Riketa's children.
Zan was married to Eli Cohen and had two children, Helen and Harry. They went to Montreal in
Canada. I was born after Zan and last was Berta Matathias, nee Leon, born in 1926.

We had the soap factory that my grandfather had started. We were producing green soap and sold
it to all merchandisers in Thessaloniki. The factory was at 30 Prometheus Street. We had fifteen
people working for us. Most of them were men but we had two or three women, too. In the
meantime my father had started a business in Skopje and he was going there very often. He was
partner in a soap factory there. I still remember the name of that company. It was called Tasha
Staits and Company. They were Serbians and were producing the same soap as ours in
Thessaloniki.

At our factory in Thessaloniki, apart from my father, were also working my brother Juda and my
cousin Alberto Leon, who was married to my eldest sister Rahel. I didn't work there before the war.
I was too young.

In 1935 we became associates with Vasilis Giakos who had a soap factory, too. We decided this in
order to expand our business. Together with Mr. Giakos we formed a company named Leon &
Giakos, thus having the monopoly of soap production. We were in business together until 1957
when we shut down the soap factory.

I remember well the house I grew up in. At first we had a house on Kleanthous Street in
Thessaloniki. Later on we moved to another house on Italias Street. I was twelve years old when we
left the house on Kleanthous Street. I remember it had a big yard, many rooms, and a cellar, where
they had a big barrel with 'alisiva' [or aleshiva: detergent made with ashes mixed with water] that
was used for washing the clothes. We had both water and electricity in our house. I remember that
my bedroom was very small, but I was sleeping alone. The rest of my siblings were sleeping by two
in each bedroom. In the garden were many trees, flowers and a well.

Our neighborhood was Jewish. I don't remember the names of our neighbors. There were also some
houses that Christians lived in but the majority was Jewish homes.

We left the house on Kleanthous Street and moved to another on Italias Street because it was
bigger and more convenient. Our second house was a big corner house. It doesn't exist any more.
A few years ago I went to look for it, but they've put an apartment building in its place.

I remember this house very clearly. It had a well in the yard. It had a big entrance hall. There was a
big corridor. On the right there were three bedrooms. All my siblings had their own bedroom, apart
from my sisters who were sharing bedrooms by two. At the end there was a very small room. On
the left was the dining room. There was also the kitchen with a place where we would put the coals
and the ice box. There was a wandering merchant selling big blocks of ice. We would buy ice from
him and put it in the ice box in order to preserve the food.
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We knew all our neighbors in this neighborhood. They were all Jews and we had very good
relationships. I remember that near our house was the Krispi's bakery where we would buy our
bread. Also living in this neighborhood was a family called Petsa and a lady called Mrs. Makri. We
were very good neighbors with them, too.

As children we would play together with the children living in our neighborhood. There was a big
yard near a Romanian school where Romanian children were studying. In this yard we used to play
football.

We had people helping with the housework. There was a woman from Aivat. [Editor's note: Aivat is
a poor village in the mountains surrounding Thessaloniki. Many housemaids came from there. Now
it is called Diavata.] Her name was Paraskevi and she was staying with us until World War II. My
mother was also calling periodically another woman for the laundry.

My mother usually didn't do the shopping. The shopping was done by my father. He would buy
from the market and send them to the house with a 'chamalis' [Turkish: hamal: folk expression for
delivery service]. There were also the 'bakalika' [Greek: small general food stores] of our
neighborhood were we could do the shopping. We didn't buy kosher meat.

At home we were talking Judeo-Spanish, Ladino 4, as we were growing up. Jewish life in
Thessaloniki was very vivid, both religiously and socially. In our house we didn't observe the
Sabbath fanatically. But the Jewish holidays were very meticulously celebrated in our house.

There were many preparations done at home for Pesach. Most of them were done by the women of
the house. I remember they wouldn't leave even a tiny piece of bread inside the house. They were
checking everywhere. The women of the house prepared food according to pascoual 5 dietary laws.
They wouldn't allow any food that wasn't permitted for Pesach.

Usually we wouldn't go to the synagogue on Pesach. The first night the whole family would sit
around the dinner table. We read the Haggadah in Ladino. First my father was reading and then the
children in turns. It was something wonderful how many we were gathered around the Pesach
table. We were more than twenty. And if there were people, even strangers passing by, we would
invite them in, too.

I remember something very characteristic about Pesach. I was around twelve years old and by that
time we were living on Italias Street. It was the first night of Pesach. I was late for Pesach dinner
that night. As I was walking from the bus station to our house I could hear from the open windows
of the houses I was passing the recitation of the Haggadah. All Jewish homes had their windows
wide open and the reading of the Haggadah could be heard out in the street.

I also remember the matzot that we ate. We would buy it from the Jewish Community of
Thessaloniki. We had a big wooden box and we placed the matzah we bought there. It was in big
pieces. We were eager to eat it. But the food that I liked best on Pesach was 'massa en caldo'
[Ladino for: matzah in gravy soup or boullion], something like a soup made with matzah.

On [Yom] Kippur we were fasting. We would eat very early in the afternoon and wish each other a
good Kippur. That was all. What I remember very distinctively about Kippur, is that very early in the
morning someone was passing by yelling: 'Que se alevanta selihot' - Who will wake up early in the
morning to go to the synagogue? [Editor's note: The custom of waking up early in the pre morning
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hours to recite Selihot during the 40 days from Rosh Hodesh Elul until Yom Kippur is codified in
Shulhan Aruch (Orah Hayim 581; 1). The Selihot prayers were designed to facilitate Teshubah
(repentance) in preparation for the annual Day of Judgement. (Source:
http://www.judaic.org/halakhot/selihot.htm)] Kippur was the day that we did nothing else but go to
the synagogue. I went to the synagogue with my father. My brothers wouldn't come. They were not
so fanatic about it.

Near our house there was a synagogue called Beit Saul Synagogue 6, which doesn't exist any
more. It was destroyed. Beit Saul was astonishing. It was very big. On Kippur it was full of people.
There were even people standing outside. At night we would return from the synagogue and eat
again all together at home.

On Sukkot we would built a sukkah. My father was preparing it. He set it up on the terrace of our
house and we would cover it with canes.

Going to school

The first school I went to was Alchech School 7. It was a Jewish school. I remember to the same
school went: Toto Beniech, Souhami, Amar, Bueno, Saragoussi, Elie Cohen, Elie Aleion, Acher, the
Cohen sisters, Barzilai, Nina Uziel, Joseph Nissim and Salomon Molho. It was an old building on
Ermondou Rostand Street, if I remember well. We had very good teachers. We had someone called
Leitmer, who was teaching Mathematics, and Polichronopoulos, who was teaching Greek. The
lessons were taught in Greek and French. We celebrated all Jewish holidays at school. We were also
taught Hebrew and Jewish religion by someone called Stroumsa. My favorite lessons were History
and Greek. The professor I liked most was the mathematician, Mr. Leitmer. He was from Belgium.
He was teaching maths in French. He was very good.

After I graduated from Alchech School, I went to the French Lycèe. It was a French school but the
majority of the students were Jews. The lessons were taught in French. This school was not
religious. It was Mission Laïque 8. We didn't study Jewish religion and Hebrew there and we didn't
say morning prayers. On Jewish holidays we would go to school except on Kippur. On Pesach many
Jewish students were absent, but we would go.

I remember that the last director of this school was not so fond of Jews. But usually the teachers
were very good. I remember one of those that were good was called Mr. Groleau. He was very
easy-going and helpful to the students.

I remember that in Thessaloniki there was a vivid religious and social Jewish life. There was
Maccabi 9. It was a club were Jewish children were gathered. It had a very good library, too. We
would have scouts meetings, went on excursions, played ball games and things like that. I started
going there at the age of ten. And although in the meantime we changed houses, I still continued
going to Maccabi. Our house on Italias Street was not very far from our old house.

The Zionist 10 issue was very developed there. We had meetings where they were talking to us
about Zionism and Palestine. As Maccabi group we took part at the National Parades on Greek
National Holidays such as 25th March 11 and the rest. We would wear our scouts uniform which
included a green color neckerchief and the various Maccabi scouts emblems.
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These scouts meeting were something very strong in our childhood years. We would go on
excursions to Chortiatis [a mountain area in the Thessaloniki Prefecture, Greece, consisting of the
villages of Asvestohori, Exochi, Chortiatis and Filyro]. There we would go for walks in the forest. We
went on excursions to the School of Agriculture 12 and to the sea for swimming.

Our team leader would urge us to get involved in the various activities organized. We would gather
approximately 30 children. I remember Salomon Molho, Fiko Nissim, Joseph Nissim, Elie Sciaky, Elie
Cohen, Tory Beza, Harry Perez, and Marsel Natzari who all came to Maccabi. I also remember our
leader Saragoussi.

We could also find very interesting books at the Maccabi library. I served as a librarian for a period
of time there. I liked reading very much. Back then we didn't have television and things like that.

There was another Jewish scout organization called Hakoah 13, but we were not involved with it.
They did the same activities as we did. But Maccabi was much more popular. All the Jewish scout
organizations were under the auspices of The Greek Union of Scouts and not under the Jewish
Community of Thessaloniki. I don't remember the Jewish Community of Thessaloniki organizing
events for children.

Thessaloniki was a beautiful city. We could go swimming and on excursions. Generally we had a
good life there.

There were many Jews in Thessaloniki. The neighborhood that I lived in was a Jewish neighborhood.
There were many synagogues 14. I usually attended the Beit Saul Synagogue. I had my bar
mitzvah there, too. I remember the parasha [weekly Torah portion] I read, starting with the words
'Asher ve asher...' Rabbi Stroumsa was my tutor. There was another synagogue called Chai Yiako
Smoel. My father went there. It was on Miaouli Street, very close to our house.

In Thessaloniki there was also a Jewish Cemetery 15. It was destroyed. Nothing was left of it. It
must have been very big, considering the number of Jews that lived in Thessaloniki. It used to be
where the university stands today.

There were also various clubs in Thessaloniki. I remember a club called Ajiji [AJJ] 16. We would
gather there for lectures, excursions and flirting. It also had a library. At Ajiji club we would
celebrate the various Jewish holidays, singing and dancing. I remember on Chanukkah we lit the
candles and sang Chanukkah songs. Each day we would light an extra candle. Then there was a
special treat, a sweet called 'tajicos de menta' 17.

There was also the Club of the Graduates of the French School.

Various Jewish newspapers were published in Thessaloniki. In our house we usually read Le Progrès
18. I remember very distinctly an anti-Semitic incident that happened before World War II. The
Jewish neighborhood of Campbell was set on fire 19. All the newspapers were writing about it with
big headlines on the front page.

There was an anti-Semitic organization called the 3E 20. When we were asking what 3E meant we
were told that it meant 'Greeks Exterminate the Jews' 21. This organization was similar to the
organizations that existed in Germany at that time.
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After the Campbell Fire we would see the Swastika painted on the walls of various houses. We were
very afraid. Many Jews left Thessaloniki after this incident and went to live in Israel, back then
Palestine. There was uneasiness among the Jewish population. But there were many Greeks who
stood on our side and comforted us.

I didn't have the chance to study after graduating from high school. I went directly to do my
military service. I went to the army in 1939. Soon after that the war was declared. I fought in
Albania 22 until Greece was defeated. By the time I came back, Greece was occupied.

I did my military duty at the Third Division of the Greek Army. There were many Jews there. Before
the war we often did night patrols. I remember that there was someone who was singing Judeo-
Spanish songs, while we were walking at nighttime, to keep us awake. There were two Spanish
singers, Oumanouno and Navaro, who were very popular at that time. And this one guy was singing
some of their songs, but which I can no longer remember.

My military service lasted approximately two years. I remember anti-Semitic incidents in the army.
There was a high ranking army officer who was often saying: 'Hitler take a 24 hour break and come
to Greece to exterminate the Jews.' We felt insulted but there was nothing we could do about it.
This incident happened before Greece was involved in the war.

After I did the preliminary military service, I was sent to the army bakery. It was office work most of
the time. I was working there when the war was declared. One morning, as I was going to do my
duty, I heard the newspaper salesman yelling that Greece was at war with Italy. We were listening
to the news on the radio and reading the newspapers to learn more. People were very patriotically
enthusiastic at first.

During the War

Soon after, I was sent to the front line. In 1940 I was sent to the central battle frontier at Korytsa.
[Korytsa: city in northern Albania with a concentration of Greek population. It was occupied by the
Greek army on 22nd November 1940.] I was there for six months. There were many Jews that died
during the Albanian War. I remember one of them, Arditis was his name. At night we were sleeping
in tents. We could hear the bombs that the Italians were dropping. I remember one night a fellow
soldier went out to change shifts with another that was on duty just outside our tent. A while later
we went out. A missile had wounded him on the head, we found him dead.

During the period we were at the front line we were writing letters to our relatives. There was no
telephone there. I was writing that I was okay and not to worry. Usually it was my siblings that
were writing back to me. Our correspondence was in Greek.

As we were marching, Italians were retreating. We caught Italian soldiers and took them as
prisoners of war to Giannena. [Giannena or Ioannina: main city in Epirus, northwestern Greece; the
capital of Ioannina Prefecture and of Epirus.] We would then guard them in shifts. I was in Giannena
when the war ended 23. From Giannena I went to Athens by foot. While walking, we could see the
German air force bombarding.

One week later we finally arrived in Athens which was occupied by Germans. There I met my
brother Jacque and our fellow business partner Grigoris Giakos. We were trying to find a way to
return to Thessaloniki. Our families, our relatives were expecting us there. In order to calm their
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anxiety we had a photograph taken and sent it to them. My brother Jacque was sitting in the
middle, Giakos at his right and I was sitting at my brother's left side. I had my hand behind his
shoulder. When our relatives in Thessaloniki saw this photograph, they were very worried. My
mother was wondering where my hand was. They thought that I had lost my hand because during
the war my hand was paralyzed and this was the reason that I was sent to Giannena.

We stayed in Athens for one week. We were free of our military uniforms by now. We had bought
new clothes. Things were easygoing in Athens, which was still under German occupation. Finally we
found a bus that could take us back to Thessaloniki. It wasn't easy. Many people wanted to leave
Athens. But I had money with me and I managed to arrange things for us. While at war, we
regularly received money checks from our families. Just before the end of the war I had received a
money check and that's how I ended up with money in Athens.

Finally we arrived in Thessaloniki. We went straight to our house. We all gathered there. Life was
easygoing at first. We continued our business, the soap factory. Soap was in demand at that time.
It had disappeared because there were no factories producing it any more. There was scarcity of
food also. We exchanged soap for flour and other products. Money had lost its value.

We had not yet understood what the German occupation was all about. They were not hurting the
Jews yet. Until the day Germans decided to gather all Jews of Thessaloniki at Eleutherias Square 24.
And almost all Jews went there. I went, too. But when I saw the torturing under the sun, I said to
myself that I wasn't going to stay any longer. At a moment that neither the Germans nor the Greek
policemen were watching me, I stepped out of the line and ran towards a small alley and
disappeared. As I learned later on, many were set free that day but they were called back again
and were sent to forced labor camps 25.

Meanwhile my brother Jacque went to the cemetery and unburied all our ancestors. The Germans
had ordered the destruction of the Jewish Cemetery of Thessaloniki. The graves were destroyed.
We didn't want to leave our ancestors' bones out there. So my brother went to the cemetery and
unburied all of them one by one. Each one was placed in a pouch with their nametags on it. We
kept them in our factory.

Later on, when we went into hiding, some people came and occupied our factory. They threw all
the bones aside in order to steal the pouches. When we came back from hiding we had no other
choice but to place all the bones in one grave with all the names written on it at the New Jewish
Cemetery in Thessaloniki. On the grave is written: 'Fueron transerados del viejo cimeterio jidio que
fue estruido por los allemanes en el anio 1942' [They were transferred from the Old Cemetery that
was destroyed by Germans in year 1942], followed by the names of our relatives: Samuel Juda
Leon 5003, Juda Samuel Leon 5057, Avram Samuel Leon, Rahel Juda Leon, Samuel Juda Leon,
Jomtov Juda Leon, Moise Jomtov Leon, Raphael Samuel Leon, Jamila Isaac Leon, Joseph Raphael
Avram, Bea Menahem Eskenazi, Ovadia Joseph Sciaky, Benuta Ovadia Sciaky, Mazliah Samuel
Amariclio, Julia Mazliah Amariclio, Flor Aron Cohen.

After the destruction of the cemetery, the Germans ordered all Jewish shops to have a sign stating
that they were Jewish shops, and each Jewish house to have a Magen David 26. We had to wear a
yellow star. Later on deportations to Poland started 27. We learned the various German orders
from the newspapers and from announcements on the walls. There were German newspapers
written in Greek language. Makedonia 28, To Fos 29, Nea Evropi 30 were publishing the German
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orders. And of course everybody was obeying them.

I remember that when we were restricted by the Germans, wearing the yellow star, my friend
Marsel Natzari and I went to a place not far from my house, on Allatini Street, and had our
photograph taken. We didn't know what was going to happen and we wanted to have a memoir. My
friend Marsel was sent to Auschwitz, but fortunately he came back again.

My family and I were gathered, thinking about what we could do in order to leave Thessaloniki. I
remember we had a Greek friend from Salonica, a lawyer. He would often visit us and saw our
agony. He was telling us that if we jumped in the sea and swam across to Olympos [municipality in
Larissa Prefecture, Greece, named after the nation's tallest summit, Mount Olympus], we had
better chances of surviving than if we followed the German orders. And soon we started to find
ways to escape. Our neighbors didn't know that we were trying to escape, although they were very
friendly and we always had very good relationships anyways. They couldn't know since we were
doing it in full secrecy.

My friend Marsel Natzari and I decided to leave by train 31 with the help of someone working at the
Railway Station of Thessaloniki. We went to the station but for a reason that I cannot remember we
didn't manage to leave. So we returned. This was the first, unsuccessful attempt.

For our second attempt we had contacted again someone working at the railway station. We went
to his house, which was very close to the station. I was with my nephew Sam Leon, son of Alberto
Leon. At midnight we walked to the station since this was the time that the train for Athens was
leaving. Sam managed to get on the train. I was stopped by a station officer. He asked me to give
him all my money in order to help me escape. I gave him all the money I was carrying with me. He
said that I had to come back again the next day and he would send me to Athens. Thus, wearing a
railway station officer uniform, I returned back home. My second attempt to escape was
unsuccessful, too.

Finally, our third attempt was successful. I was with my two sisters, Rahel with her husband
Alberto, and her child Nikos, and my unmarried sister Berta. With the help of railway officers we
managed to escape. We had just a suitcase with the necessary things. Everything else was left to
friends and neighbors. When we returned some things were given back to us and some were not.

We went to the railway station from our house by foot. When we arrived we got on the train. Of
course, we were carrying false IDs with us. Mr. Mavropoulos had helped us with the false IDs. And
so we managed to get to Athens. When the train left Thessaloniki, we knew that someone, who had
been paid, would help us later on. The train had to stop at Platamonas [a town and sea-side resort
in south Pieria prefecture, Central Macedonia, Greece] where the Italian occupation Zone 32 was
beginning. At Platamonas the Germans were checking IDs. But we had paid the German officers'
translator.

My nephew Sam Leon was married to Riri. Riri's mother had been remarried to a doctor called
Theocharis. It was Theocharis, Riri's stepfather, who knew the translator and gave him money to let
us pass. The German officer saw our 'Ausweis,' our Christian IDs, the translator said they were
okay, and thus we managed to pass through the checking point.
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Before reaching Athens, I think at a place called Papadia's Bridge, the Greek resistance had blown
up the bridge. And the train couldn't move on. We stayed there for days. We got off the train in
search for something to eat. I remember that the Italian army was giving us panettone bread and
was trying to help us.

Finally we arrived in Athens. We didn't know where to go. We entered a hotel and stayed there for
the night. Next morning we realized that this was a brothel. My parents came to Athens later. We
had some acquaintances in Athens and they helped us to find an apartment to rent. The people we
knew were both Jews and Christians. I remember someone called Perachia and another one called
Leondaridis. We found a house on Navarhou Nikodimou Street.

Mrs. Vidaly was renting us this apartment. She knew we were Jews in hiding. She felt very sorry
about us. One day she said that she had an excellent relationship with the priest of this region and
that she could talk to him about us. So my father and I went to visit the priest. And the priest
started preaching. But my father was very educated. At some point I realized that my father was
preaching and the priest was listening. This was a comic incident.

We stayed at Nikodimou Street for six months. We had no jobs so we would go out to the Royal
Garden for walks. This was during the Italian occupation of Athens. But things changed and then
the German occupation started in Athens. We thought that we couldn't stay any more in Athens.
We had to leave.

The anti-Jewish measures 33 started soon after in Athens. Germans started gathering the Jews at
the synagogue at first and then deportations commenced. But we had already left Athens. My
parents, my sister Berta and I had left. My sister Rahel with her child Nikos stayed in Athens.

We had a small share in an oil refinery at a factory in Chalkida [the chief town of the island of
Euboea in Greece, situated on the strait of the Evripos at its narrowest point]. There was a friend
there, someone called Petrogiannis, an employee of that factory. He came to Athens and helped us
to escape. We left by bus. At some point the Germans stopped the bus we were riding on. They
ordered all the passengers to step down. They put us in a line and the Sergeant Gendarm [lowest
rank German police officer] was checking our IDs. We showed our false IDs as he was just staring
through us. Then we were allowed to enter the bus again and continued.

We arrived at Agia Anna in Evoia 34. From Agia Anna we took a small boat and went to the Island
of Skopelos 35 where we stayed until the end of the war. There were no Germans yet on Skopelos
Island. My brother Jacque had already arrived at Skopelos and was expecting us. People there were
very good to us. They had a welcoming hospitality custom: to wash our feet. It was Mrs. Magdalini
Mitzelioti, wife of the president of the Community of Glossa in Skopelos, who welcomed us
according to the traditional way of Skopelos, by washing our feet. We were staying in village
houses. Everybody knew that we were Jews. Nobody was talking about it. They loved us very much.
All this until Germans reached Skopelos.

The first ID card I had was issued on 18th May 1943 and said my name was Mavropoulos Georgios,
son of Christos and Eirini. But if the Germans had found us in Skopelos with this identity card they
would have started questioning what we were doing there. Also the type of the IDs had changed
and it was now both in Greek and German language. So I had a second ID issued, stating that I was
a Glossa citizen. Mr. Mitzeliotis, the president of the Community of Glossa himself signed the new
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identity cards. He was the one that saved us. I also remember that Magdalini and Stefanos Korfiatis
helped us.

When the Germans reached Skopelos we left the village and went up to the mountain. We were
staying in a very small mountain cottage. We didn't keep Jewish traditions while in hiding. We
stayed there approximately six months, until the island was liberated. We stayed in the cottage all
day long. Just at night we went out to get water, food that our friends from the villages had brought
us, and to learn the news. Someone had a hidden radio and he could listen to [Radio] London. He
told us that the United States were now involved in the war.

I do remember another incident that happened while we were hiding. One day we saw Solon Molho,
who was hiding in the village, coming towards us. We knew Solon Molho from Thessaloniki. His
sister Victoria was married to my brother Juda Leon. Solon Molho that day had taken the pathway
leading to our cottage and we could see him, as he was climbing the mountain, approaching us.
When he arrived he just said: 'The Americans are coming...' and then fainted. He was exhausted
from fatigue and excitement. We were very happy because we knew that sooner or later the
Germans would leave.

I remember another detail. One day, as I was walking down the pathway, I saw a Camel cigarette.
Camel was an American Tobacco Company. Later on we learned that the English Army had come to
the island to prepare its liberation.

The war ended for us when the Germans left the village and were departing from Greece. We were
very joyous the day the Germans left the island. We all went to the church. Everybody was
gathered there. The president of the Community of Glossa was crying from happiness.

After the War

We decided not to go back to Thessaloniki immediately after the end of the war. We stayed in
Skopelos for a while. We had developed a pseudo-factory, producing some kind of liquid soap. All
the Leon brothers were in that business. We couldn't find oil, so we used amber from the trees and
we mixed it with soda. This soap was used for washing clothes. This business didn't last very long.
But we were very happy that we were free again.

One day we decided to go back to Thessaloniki. We didn't know what had happened there and to
the rest of Greece. It was only later on that we learned about it. In September 1944 we took a boat
and returned to Thessaloniki. As soon as we arrived we went straight to our business partner's
house, to Mr. Giakos. He welcomed us warmly.

The next day we went to our house. We found it occupied by refuges from Kavala. During the war
Kavala was occupied by the Bulgarians. These people left their houses and came to Thessaloniki
and were staying in our house. We told them to leave but they were reluctant. They were saying
that they were not sure that we were the real owners of this house. Finally they gave us a room
and all of us stayed there until they left. Their houses were liberated soon after and they returned
to Kavala.

Our neighbors were very happy to see us again. Many of our belongings we had given to various
friends to hide them. Some we got back, some we did not. Carpets and staff like that were never
returned. So we continued with what we had.
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Gradually our relatives were returning to Thessaloniki. Occasionally people were returning from
death camps, from Auschwitz. They were telling us what they had suffered there. Meanwhile we
were listening to the BBC, too. We couldn't believe what they were telling us.

One day, my friend Marsel Natzari came back. He had returned from Auschwitz where he was in
the 'Sonderkommando' [commando responsible for carrying the dead out of the gas chambers and
their cremation]. He stayed with us. For months we couldn't stop hearing what had happened
there. We couldn't believe what he was telling us, things that one could never forget.

I remember a ceremony at Monastirioton Synagogue 36. All the synagogues of Thessaloniki had
been destroyed by the Germans except this one. They wanted to leave some Jewish monuments as
reminiscence of the cursed [i.e. Jewish] race. This was something I learned during a trip to Prague.
In Czechoslovakia we saw that the Jewish cemetery and the synagogues were left intact. The
Germans wanted to have monuments of an extinguished race.

The ceremony that took place in Monastirioton Synagogue was very touching. Everybody was
crying. Everybody had relatives that had been deported by the Germans and hadn't heard from
them since. There was someone who gave a speech and he was saying: 'They burned us, they
burned us...' We couldn't stop crying.

Thessaloniki was very different. A big part of its population was missing. Fifty thousand Jews were
missing. It was very difficult emotionally... So many people were missing! There were no group
gatherings any more, no Maccabi, nothing. But there was an 'epidemic' of group marriages. Those
that had returned and had no relatives any more were getting married in group marriages
performed at Matanot Laevionim. Many people that I knew got married then. Some were leaving
soon after the marriage for Israel.

We had our business that kept us in Thessaloniki. We had our partner Mr. Giakos, who was a
Christian, and we managed to get the factory started as soon as we got back. The product we
made, the soap, was in demand and thus our business was going very well.

We had a social life, gatherings with friends and 'la vita e bella' [Italian: 'life is beautiful'] after the
war ended. The Jewish Community of Thessaloniki started to be organized again. On Sabbath we
would go to the synagogue. We celebrated the Jewish holidays as we used to do before the war. On
Pesach the Jewish Community gave us matzah. Then all the family would gather at home and read
the Haggadah and sing the Hatikvah 37.

I got married in 1956. My wife Yvette, nee Beza, was born in 1935 in Thessaloniki. Although her
mother tongue was Ladino, we are talking in Greek at home. She studied at Anatolia College 38 in
Thessaloniki. Her father was called Maurice Beza, her mother Sarina, and she has a brother, Mimis
Beza. My father-in-law, Maurice Beza, was a member of a motorcyclist union called Move before
the war. Its members were both Jews and non-Jews. They were the pioneers of motorcycling sport
in Thessaloniki.

We were married at Monastirioton Synagogue. The synagogue was full of guests. The name of the
rabbi who performed the marriage was Azaria. After our wedding we stayed on Natalias Mella
Street in Thessaloniki. We rented this house. Later on we moved to another house on March 25th
Street and later on to one on October 28th Street.
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We had a woman helping with the housework. She was staying with us. She was from Aivat. Aivat
was a village near Thessaloniki. Many girls were coming from there to work at houses in
Thessaloniki.

Our first house was in a very nice neighborhood near the sea. We would often go for walks there.
We often went on trips and excursions.

We didn't keep kosher in our house. But we continued to celebrate all Jewish holidays. We went
either to my mother Riketa's or to my mother-in- law Sarina's house. We used to go to the
synagogue on the major Jewish holidays.

We have two sons. Our older son, Isaac-Sakis, was born in 1957 and our younger one, Barouch-
Andreas, was born in 1959. It wasn't possible not to have our two sons circumcised. The ceremony
took place at my mother-in-law Sarina's house. We invited many guests. My eldest brother Juda
was the 'Quitador' [Ladino term for the person who holds the baby during circumcision] of my son
Isaac-Sakis, and my wife's brother Mimis was the 'Quitador' of our younger son, Barouch-Andreas.

In 1959 our factory was burned down. We started the same business all over again with my eldest
brother Juda at another place, on October 26th Street in Thessaloniki. But detergents had started
to circulate on the market and the soap business wasn't going so well. Finally we had to shut down
the new factory. Thus we moved to Athens. I was co-partner with my wife's brother Mimis. We were
in the motorcycle and motorcycle accessories business. My brother Juda came to Athens, too. Only
my brother Jacque stayed in Thessaloniki. Most of the Jews came to Athens. Very few stayed in
Thessaloniki.

Our children were very young when we moved to Athens. We were talking in Greek with them.
They first went to the Athens Jewish Community School and continued their studies at Moraitis
School [private elementary and high school in Athens]. They were learning a bit of Hebrew and
were doing preparatory lessons with Rabbi Mizan for their bar mitzvah. Both our sons had their bar
mitzvah in Athens. Many people came and it was a very touching ceremony.

There was a Jewish Club where our sons went very often. They were involved in all the activities
organized and went to the Jewish club on Jewish holidays, too. As our children were growing up the
majority of their friends were non-Jews. We, on the other hand, mostly spent time with our
relatives. We usually played cards. There was a Jewish Club and we attended all the events
organized there.

We often talked to our children about our experiences during the war. They just listened without
saying anything. I remember once we went on an excursion to Skopelos Island. We just went for
holidays and for swimming. We also visited the people that had helped us and saved us during the
war. As we were showing our children all the places where we had been hiding, a group of German
tourists approached us. Our children were so scared because of what they had heard about the
German occupation that they walked away from the tourists.

Both our sons studied in Israel. We were very happy that they made this choice. Sakis studied
mechanics and Andreas statistical economy. My wife and I visited Israel during the period that our
sons were studying there. We liked this country very much. The only problem we faced was the
language problem. We didn't speak Hebrew. I only speak Greek, French and English.
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Our children got married immediately after their studies. They met their future wives while they
were studying in Israel. And when they came back they got married. Both wives are Jews from
Greece. We have four granddaughters, two from each son. Sakis is married to Nelly Natzari,
daughter of my friend Marsel. Nelly was born in 1957. They have two daughters, Yvi, born on 3rd
November 1987 and Miriam, born on 8th December 1990. Andreas is married to Mariza and their
daughters are Ety, born on 5th April 1989, and Natalie, born on 14th October 1992.

We meet our granddaughters very frequently. Every Saturday they come with their parents for
lunch at our house. It is a tradition we've always had. Sometimes we go for a walk together.

Our grandchildren were raised with more Jewish education than what we had offered to our
children. Something that impressed me is that although we have placed the Mezuzah inside our
house, our sons have placed it outside. They feel more Jewish than we feel. We are still afraid after
what we went through. Our children are not.

All our granddaughters had their bat mitzvah. Our eldest, Yvi, is studying finance in Israel.

We often go to the synagogue and we are celebrating all Jewish holidays at home. On Pesach all
our family is gathered at our house to celebrate. My wife Yvette does all the preparations. We are
approximately 25 people and sometimes more. We read the Haggadah in Ladino. Most of the
people that come don't know Ladino. So, basically I am reading and my two sons accompany me.

I retired four years ago. Now we are going to the movies, on excursions and various trips.

I was never involved in Athens Jewish Community affairs, or in any other Jewish organization. On
the contrary, my wife Yvette was fanatically involved in WIZO 39 and she still continues to be. I
believe she is doing very well and I am supporting her with whatever she is involved with. [Editor's
note: Mrs. Yvette Leon served for many years as president of the Greek Branch of WIZO.]

We never asked any compensation from any organization. We just once gave an interview to
Spielberg's Foundation 40 on our life during the war, but I've never spoken again on how life used
to be before the war in Thessaloniki.

I believe that Jews of the Diaspora are disappearing. There is also a trend of increasingly mixed
marriages. This is a phenomenon not only here in Greece but also elsewhere. It makes me sad that
the Jewish Diaspora is decreasing in numbers as years go by. It makes me sad to think that it has
no future but is there anything that we can do about it?

Glossary:

1  Salonica Jews
The Ottoman conquest of Macedonia in 1430 coincided with a great influx of European Jews
expelled by their home countries, particularly Spain. At that time Salonica had only 2,000
inhabitants among whom many were Romaniote Jews (Greek-speaking Jews residing in parts of
Greece from the time of St. Paul). About 20,000 Sepharadim, Spanish Jews and Conversos settled
in Salonica in 1492. [Source: Rena Molho, 'Salonica and Istanbul: Social, Political and Cultural
Aspects of Jewish Life,' (Istanbul, 2005)]
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2  Leon Soap Industry
established at the end of the 19th century by Yehuda or Juda Leon, succeeded by his children
Samuel, Isaac, and Sarah. Around 1929 they fused with Giakos Soap Industry under the name
United Macedonian Soap Industry, I. Leon & V. Giakos. It stopped its production after a fire at the
factory in February 1961. [Source: E. Roupa, E. Chekimoglou, 'I Istoria tis Thassalonikis: Megales
Epihiriseis kai Epihirimatikes Oikogeneies' (History of Salonica: Big Companies and Family
Companies), (Thessaloniki, 2004)]

3  Matanot Laevionim
Matanot Laevionim was created in February 1901 with the objective of offering free meals to
orphans and other poor students of the schools of the Jewish Community. It operated with funds
from the community, the help of Alliance Israelite Universelle and other serious legacies left by the
founding members or their wives when they became widows. These funds were used in order to
acquire a building in the suburb of Eksohi. In 1912, Matanot Laevionim offered approximately four
hundred free meals a day, while after the big fire of Thessaloniki in 1917 it extended its activities
and set up one cook house in each neighborhood. During the occupation it offered great services to
the community, as with the assistance of the Greek and the International Red Cross it managed to
distribute daily 'popular meals' and half a litter of milk to 5.500 children. [Source: R. Molho, 'The
Jews of Thessaloniki 1856-1919. A Unique Community,' Ed. Themelio, Athens 2001, pp.104-106]

4  Ladino
Also known as Judeo-Spanish, it is the spoken and written Hispanic language of Jews of Spanish and
Portuguese origin. Ladino did not become a specifically Jewish language until after the expulsion of
the Jews from Spain in 1492 (and Portugal in 1495) - it was merely the language of their province.
It is also known as Judezmo, Dzhudezmo, or Spaniolit. When the Jews were expelled from Spain and
Portugal they were cut off from the further development of the language, but they continued to
speak it in the communities and countries to which they emigrated. Ladino therefore reflects the
grammar and vocabulary of 15th-century Spanish. In Amsterdam, England and Italy, those Jews
who continued to speak 'Ladino' were in constant contact with Spain and therefore they basically
continued to speak the Castilian Spanish of the time. Ladino was nowhere near as diverse as the
various forms of Yiddish, but there were still two different dialects, which corresponded to the
different origins of the speakers: 'Oriental' Ladino was spoken in Turkey and Rhodes and reflected
Castilian Spanish, whereas 'Western' Ladino was spoken in Greece, Macedonia, Bosnia, Serbia and
Romania, and preserved the characteristics of northern Spanish and Portuguese. The vocabulary of
Ladino includes hundreds of archaic Spanish words, and also includes many words from different
languages: mainly from Hebrew, Arabic, Turkish, Greek, French, and to a lesser extent from Italian.
In the Ladino spoken in Israel, several words have been borrowed from Yiddish. For most of its
lifetime, Ladino was written in the Hebrew alphabet, in Rashi script, or in Solitreo. It was only in the
late 19th century that Ladino was ever written using the Latin alphabet. At various times Ladino
has been spoken in North Africa, Egypt, Greece, Turkey, Yugoslavia, Bulgaria, Romania, France,
Israel, and, to a lesser extent, in the United States and Latin America.
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5  Pascoual
appropriate or kosher for consumption during the week of the Jewish Easter (Pesach or Passover), a
time when the Jewish people do not eat food that raises, e.g. bread.

6  Beit Saoul Synagogue
It was set up in ca. 1898 on 43 Vassilissis Olgas Street by Fakima Idda Modiano in memory of her
husband Saoul Jacob Modiano.

7  Alchech School
private Jewish elementary and high school for boys, founded at the end of the 19th century. It was
also called Francoallemande because students were taught both French and German.

8  Mission Laïque Française
French Mission School, founded in 1905 in Salonica. Many Jews studied there in the interwar period.

9  Maccabi World Union
International Jewish sports organization whose origins go back to the end of the 19th century. A
growing number of young Eastern European Jews involved in Zionism felt that one essential
prerequisite of the establishment of a national home in Palestine was the improvement of the
physical condition and training of ghetto youth. In order to achieve this, gymnastics clubs were
founded in many Eastern and Central European countries, which later came to be called Maccabi.
The movement soon spread to more countries in Europe and to Palestine. The World Maccabi Union
was formed in 1921. In less than two decades its membership was estimated at 200,000 with
branches located in most countries of Europe and in Palestine, Australia, South America, South
Africa, etc.

10  Zionism
A movement defending and supporting the idea of a sovereign and independent Jewish state, and
the return of the Jewish nation to the home of their ancestors, Eretz Israel - the Israeli homeland.
The final impetus towards a modern return to Zion was given by the show trial of Alfred Dreyfuss,
who in 1894 was unjustly sentenced for espionage during a wave of anti-Jewish feeling that had
gripped France. The events prompted Dr. Theodor Herzl (1860-1904) to draft a plan of political
Zionism in the tract 'Der Judenstaat' ('The Jewish State', 1896), which led to the holding of the first
Zionist congress in Basel (1897) and the founding of the World Zionist Organization (WZO). The
WZO accepted the Zionist emblem and flag (Magen David), hymn (Hatikvah) and an action
program.

11  25th March
National Greek Holiday in commemoration of the Greek rebellion against the Turks in 1821. It is
still celebrated with army and school parades.
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12  School of Agriculture
American Agricultural School of Thessaloniki. It was founded in 1906 in a deserted area in the
eastern part of Thessaloniki.

13  Hakoah
Max Nordau's call for the creation of a 'new Jew' and for 'muscular Judaism' at the second World
Zionist Congress in 1898 that marked the beginning of a new awareness of physical culture among
Jews, particularly in Europe. At the turn of the century, Jewish gymnastics clubs were established,
both encouraging the Jewish youth to engage in physical exercise and serving as a framework for
nationalistic activity. Beginning in 1906, broader-based sports clubs were also established. Most
prominent in the interwar period were the Hakoah Club of Vienna and Hagibor Club of Prague,
whose notable achievements in national and international track and field and swimming
competitions aroused pride and a shared sense of identity among the European Jewry. The greatest
of them all was the Hakoah soccer team, which won the Austrian championship in 1925. The best
Jewish soccer players in Central Europe joined its ranks, bringing the team worldwide acclaim.
Today Hakoah clubs exist all over the world and mainly represent the community as a social club.
However, the original pursuit of soccer remains high on the list of the clubs' activities.

14  Synagogues in Thessaloniki
Before WWII there were 19 synagogues in Thessaloniki, all of which were blown up by the Germans
a short time before the liberation. Already the big fire of 1917 had destroyed most of the
synagogues and certainly all the historic synagogues, that is those built before 1680. Historian
Rena Molho accounts that before the big fire there were about a hundred synagogues out of which
32 were recognized by the chief rabbi, 65 private small synagogues belonging to well known
families and 17 small public synagogues. [Source: 1. R. Molho, 'The Jews of Thessaloniki. 1856-
1919 A special community,' Ed. Themelio, Athens 2001, pp.65, 121. and 2. Helias V. Messinas, 'The
Synagogues of Salonica and Veroia,' Ed. Gavrielides, Athens 1997]

15  Destruction of the Thessaloniki Jewish Cemetery
The cemetery of Thessaloniki existed since the 3rd century B.C.E. and was the largest of the
Balkans with 500,000 graves. It was completely destroyed on 6th December 1942 by workers of
the Municipality of Thessaloniki under the orders of the mayor and the governor of the city, Vassilis
Simonides, who had been authorized by the Germans. Today the Aristotle University of
Thessaloniki stands in its place.

16  AJJ
abbreviation of the Zionist 'Association des Jeunes Juifs,' a local Zionist association created by
young men of the middle class in 1917- 1918. [Source: Rena Molho, 'Salonica and Istanbul: Social,
Political and Cultural Aspects of Jewish Life,' Istanbul, 2005]

17  Tajicos
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the name for homemade marzipan sweets. Jews used to eat them because they were neutral
ingredients sweets that could be served as desert for any dairy or meat meal. Tajicos de menta:
Ladino for 'tajicos with mint.'

18  Le Progrès
One of the 7 French-Jewish newspapers published in Salonica up until 1941.

19  Campbell Fire (Pogrom on 29th June 1931)
Responsible for the arson of the poor neighborhood Campbell was the '?????? ?????? ?????', (Ethniki
Enosis Ellas - National Union Greece), short: EEE also known as the 3E or the 'Iron Helmets.' This
organization was the backbone of fascism in Greece in the period between the two World Wars. It
was established in Thessaloniki in 1927. The most important element of the 3E political voice was
anti-Semitism, an expression mostly of the Christian traders of the city in order to displace the
Jewish competitors. President of the organization was a merchant, Mr. G. Cormides, there was also
a secretary, a banker, D. Haritopoulos, and chief spokesman Nikos Fardis, editor-in-chief of the
newspaper Makedonia. The occasion for the outbreak of anti-Semitism in Thessaloniki was the
inauguration of the new Maccabi Hall in June 1931. In a principal article signed by Nikos Fardis,
from Saturday, 20th June 1931, it was said that Maccabi of Thessaloniki had placed itself in favor of
an Autonomous Greek Macedonia. The journalist "revealed" the conspiracy of Jews, Bulgarians,
Communists and Catholics against Macedonia. Two days later, the Ministry of the Interior confirmed
the newspaper's allegations despite the strict denial of the Maccabi representatives. All the anti-
Semitic and fascist organizations were aroused. This marked the beginning of the riots that
resulted in the pogrom of Campbell. Elefterios Venizelos was again involved after the 1917 fire,
speaking at the parliament as Prime Minister, and talked with emphasis about the law-abiding
stance of the Jewish population, but simultaneously permitted the prosecution of Maccabi for
treason against the state. Let alone the fact that the newspaper Makedonia with the inflaming anti-
Semitic publications was clearly pro- Venizelian. At the trial, held in Veroia ten months later, Fardis
and the leaders of EEE were found not guilty while three refugees were found guilty, but with
mitigating circumstances and therefore were freed on the spot. It is worth noting that at the 1933
general election, the Jews of Thessaloniki, in one block voted against Venizelos. [Source: Bernard
Pierron, 'Juifs et chrétiens de la Grèce moderne,' Harmattan, Paris 1996, pp. 179-198]

20  3E (Ethniki ?nosi ?llados)
lit. National Union of Greece, a fascist nationalist organization, founded in 1929 by George
Kosmidis. It had about 2000 members, of whom the majority was immigrants. [Source: J. Hondros,
'Occupation and Resistance: the Greek Agony,' New York, 1983]

21  Ellines Eksondoste Evraious
lit. Greeks Exterminate Jews; this was a popular but wrong assumption among the Jews on what 3E
meant (cf. footnote No. 20).

22  Greek-Albanian War/Greek-Italian War (1940-1941)
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Greece was drawn into the WWII when Italian troops crossed the borders of Albania and violated
Greek territory on 28th October 1940. The Italian attack of Greece seemed obvious, despite the
stated disagreement of Hitler and the efforts of Ioannis Metaxas, who was trying to trying to keep
the country in a neutral stance. Following a series of warning signs, culminating in the sinking of
Battleship 'Elli' on 15th August 1940, by Italian torpedoes, and all of these failing to provoke the
Greek government to react, the Italian Ultimatum was delivered on 28th October 1940, and it
demanded the free passage of the Italian army through Greek soil, as well as sole control of a
series of strategic points of the country. The rejection of the ultimatum by Metaxas was in line with
the public opinion in Greece and led to the immediate declaration of war by Italy against Greece.
This war took place mostly in the mountains of Hepeirous. In the Greek-Albanian War
approximately 12.500 Greek Jews took part and 513 Greek Jews died fighting. The Greek counter-
offensive pushed the Italians deep into Albania and the Greek army maintained the initiative
throughout the winter capturing the southern Albanian towns of Corce, Aghioi Saranda, and
Girocaster. [Source: Thanos Veremis, Mark Dragoumis, 'Historical Dictionary of Greece' (London
1995)]

23  The Axis occupation of Greece during World War II
began on 9th April 1941 after the German invasion of Greece. In March 1941, a major Italian
counterattack failed, and Germany was forced to come to the aid of its ally. Operation Marita
began on 6th April 1941, with German troops invading Greece through Bulgaria in an effort to
secure its southern flank. The combined Greek and British forces fought back with great tenacity,
but were vastly outnumbered and outgunned, and finally collapsed. Athens fell on 27th April. The
occupation lasted until the German withdrawal from the mainland in October 1944. In some cases,
such as in Crete and other islands, German garrisons remained in control until May or even June
1945. [Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Axis_occupation_of_Greece_during_World_War_II]

24  Eleutherias Square
On 11th July 1942, following the order of the German Authority published by the local press, 6000-
10.000 (depending on different estimations) male Jews aged from 18-45 were gathered in
Eleutherias Square, in the commercial center of Thessaloniki. The aim was to enlist/mobilize them
to forced labor works. Under the hot sun the armed soldiers forced them to remain standing for
hours and imposed on them humiliating gymnastic exercises. The Wehrmacht army staff was
taking photographs of the scene, while the Greek citizens were watching from their balconies.
[Source: Marc Mazower, 'Inside Hitler's Greece' (Yale 1993)]

25  Forced labor in Greece
In July 1942 all male Jews aged 18 to 45, were registered and dispatched to work sites on the
outskirts of Salonica and to the nearby towns of Veria and Katerini where they were used as
laborers. The work sites were organized along military lines, each headed by a commander who
was a former officer of the Greek army, under the supervision of Greek engineers and German
military personnel. Malnutrition, physical abuse and deplorable living condition led to illnesses,
epidemics and deaths. After lengthy negotiations, in October 1942, the Nazi authorities and the
Jewish Coordinating Committee decided for the buy-out of Jews drafted into Nazi forced labor. The
Jewish Community of Thessaloniki would have to pay 2 billion drachmas. [Source: Rena Molho,

www.centropa.org/en/biography/maurice-leon

https://www.centropa.org/en/biography/maurice-leon
https://www.centropa.org


'Salonica and Istanbul: Social, Political and Cultural Aspects of Jewish Life' (The Isis Press, Istanbul,
2005), p. 63]

26  8th February 1943
On this date, the Nazi authorities in Thessaloniki put in effect a set of measures in compliance with
orders from Berlin. Jews were forbidden to use vehicles of any kind, to circulate on central roads
after 5pm, had to wear the Yellow Star, and were obliged to live exclusively in a prescribed area of
the city or ghetto. [Source: Rena Molho, 'Salonica and Istanbul: Social, Political and Cultural Aspects
of Jewish Life' (The Isis Press, Istanbul, 2005), p. 65]

27  Deportations of Greek Jews
The Jewish population of Thessaloniki started being deported to Baron Hirsch camp as of 25th
February 1943. The first train that took away Salonican Jews left the city on 15th March 1943 and
arrived in Auschwitz on 20th March 1943. One deportation followed another and by 18th August
1943, a total of 19 convoys with 48.533 people had left the city. [Source: Rena Molho, 'Salonica
and Istanbul: Social, Political and Cultural Aspects of Jewish Life' (The Isis Press, Istanbul, 2005), p.
66]

28  Makedonia
Daily newspaper in Thessaloniki, written in Greek and published since 1911. It supported the liberal
Party and was strongly distinctive for anti-Jewish article writing and journalism.

29  To Fos (The Light)
Greek post-WWI newspaper that still existed during WWII

30  Nea Evropi (New Europe)
a Greek newspaper founded by the Germans and Greek collaborators in April 1941.

31  Railway network of Thessaloniki
In 1871 the city of Thessaloniki was connected to the Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia. In
1888 it was connected to Belgrade and the European Railway network. In 1894 the connection of
Thessaloniki with Monastiri was completed, while in 1896 Thessaloniki was also connected with
Constantinople, today's Istanbul.

32  Italian Zone of Occupation
The occupation of Greece was divided between Germany, Italy, and Bulgaria. German forces
occupied Thessaloniki, Central Macedonia, and several Aegean islands, including most of Crete.
Northeastern Greece (Eastern Macedonia and Western Thrace with the exception of the Evros
prefecture) came under Bulgarian occupation and was annexed to Bulgaria, which had long
claimed these territories. The remainder of Greece was occupied by Italy. After the Italian
capitulation in September 1943, the Italian zone was taken over by the Germans.
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33  Anti-Jewish Measures in Athens
the basic anti-Jewish measure taken in Athens was that Jews had to register and present
themselves every Friday at the synagogue in Athens. Although very few registered at the
beginning, the number grew as months passed without any other anti-Jewish measures taken.
[Source: Molho, Michael, 'In Memoriam' (Jewish Community of Thessaloniki), Thessaloniki, 1974]

34  Evoia
A widely spread peninsula northeast of Athens, connected with the main land, Greece, and through
the strait of Euripus. It was used during WWII as a departure point for the boats leaving for Asia
Minor and the Middle East.

35  Skopelos Island
a Greek island in the western Aegean Sea. Skopelos is one of several islands which comprise the
Northern Sporades island group. The island is located east of mainland Greece, northeast of the
island of Euboea and is part of the Prefecture of Magnesias in the Periphery of Thessaly. Skopelos is
also the name of the main port and the municipal center of the island. The other communities of
the island are Glossa and Neo Klima (Elios).

36  Monastir Synagogue [Monastirioton in Greek]
founded in 1923 by the Aruesti family who had sought shelter in the Jewish Community of
Thessaloniki - along with other families from Monastir - during the Balkan Wars (1912-1913).

37  Hatikvah
Anthem of the Zionist movement, and national anthem of the State of Israel. The word 'ha-tikvah'
means 'the hope'. The anthem was written by Naftali Herz Imber (1856-1909), who moved to
Palestine from Galicia in 1882. The melody was arranged by Samuel Cohen, an immigrant from
Moldavia, from a musical theme of Smetana's Moldau (Vltava), which is based on an Eastern
European folk song.

38  American College (or Anatolia College)
School founded by American missionaries in Merzifon of Asia Minor, in 1886. In 1924, after the
invitation of Eleutherios Venizelos, it was transfered to Thessaloniki. During the interwar period it
had many Jewish students.

39  WIZO in Greece
Women's International Zionist Organization, founded in London in 1920 with humanitarian
purposes aiming at supporting Jewish women all over the world in the field of education,
economics, science and culture. A network of health, social and educational institutions was
created in Palestine between 1921 and 1933, along with numerous local groups worldwide. After
WWII its office was moved to Tel Aviv. WIZO became an advisory organ to the UN after WWII
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(similar to UNICEF or ECOSOC). Today it operates on a voluntary basis, as a party-neutral, non-
profit organization, with about 250,000 members in 50 countries (2003). The history of WIZO in
Greece began in 1934 with a small group of women, which was inactive throughout WWII. In 1945
WIZO was again active in Greece because of the efforts of its first president, Victorine Kamhi, who
eventually moved to Israel. After her retirement she was named an Honorary Member of WIZO.
(Information for this entry culled from
http://www.movinghere.org.uk/stories/story221/story221.htm? identifier=
stories/story221/story221.htm&ProjectNo=14 and other sources).

40  Shoah Foundation Institute for Visual History and Education (USC)
a non-profit organization established by Steven Spielberg in 1994, one year after completing the
Academy Award-winning film 'Schindler's List.' The original aim of the foundation was to record
testimonies of all of the remaining survivors of the Holocaust (which in Hebrew is called the Shoah)
as a collection of videotaped interviews. The foundation proceeded to collect over 50,000
interviews over the next few years. Testimonies were received from many different survivors,
including Jewish, homosexual, Jehovah's Witness, Sinti and Roma survivors, political prisoners, and
survivors of the eugenics policy. In addition to survivor testimony, interviews were also conducted
with rescuers, aid providers, liberators, witnesses and participants in war crimes trials. In January
2006, the Shoah Foundation partnered with and relocated to the University of Southern California
and was redubbed the Shoah Foundation Institute for Visual History and Education (USC). In Greece
the project was introduced by R. Molho in 1996. She conducted 70 of the 150 interviews all over
Greece in a two-year period. [Source:
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/USC_Shoah_Foundation_Institute_for_Visual_Histo ry_and_Education].
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